MUSIC THEORY FOR MUSICAL THEATRE

John Bell and Steven R. Chicurel



The Scarecrow Press, Inc. Lanham, Maryland • Toronto • Plymouth, UK 2008

SCARECROW PRESS, INC.

Published in the United States of America by Scarecrow Press, Inc. A wholly owned subsidiary of The Rowman & Littlefield Publishing Group, Inc. 4501 Forbes Boulevard, Suite 200, Lanham, Maryland 20706 www.scarecrowpress.com

Estover Road Plymouth PL6 7PY United Kingdom

Copyright © 2008 by John Bell and Steven R. Chicurel

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior permission of the publisher.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Information Available

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Bell, John, 1964-Music theory for musical theatre / John Bell, Steven R. Chicurel.p. cm.Includes index.

ISBN-13: 978-0-8108-5901-2 (pbk. : alk. paper) eISBN-13: 978-0-8108-6364-4

1. Music theory-Elementary works. I. Chicurel, Steven R. (Steven Robert) II. Title.

MT7.B42 2008 782.1'11—dc22

2007052568

TM The paper used in this publication meets the minimum requirements of American National Standard for Information Science —Permanence of Paper for Printed Library Materials, ANSI/NISO Z39.48-1992.

Manufactured in the United States of America.

Contents

Acknowledgments List of Figures and Compositions Introduction Part 1: Rudiments of Music Part 2: Essays in Music Analysis Part 3: Workbook Glossary Appendix: Permissions Index About the Authors

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Andra Bell, Craig Carnelia, Justin Fischer, Karen Hiscoe, and Nand Sullivan for their professional and personal encouragement; Patricia Borne for her editori assistance; the University of Central Florida MFA musical theatre students in the Fall 2005 Script ar Score Analysis class—Paul Gebb, Josephine Leffner, Chris Staffel, Michael Swickard, Debb Tedrick, and Courtney Winstead—for being the "beta testers" of the book; and the University Central Florida Faculty Center for Teaching and Learning for assistance with scanning and editin care and feeding. In particular, thanks to Justin Delabar for his expertise and patience in helping with things electronic.

Figures and Compositions

Part 1

- Figure 1.1: Keyboard with pitch names
- Figure 1.2: Semitones
- Figure 1.3: Whole tones
- Figure 1.4: Staff with chromatic scale
- Figure 1.5: "Chop Suey," mm. 52–56, chromatic scale
- Figure 1.6: Staff with diatonic scale
- Figure 1.7: "You are Love," mm. 1-6, diatonic scale
- Figure 1.8a: C-major scale
- Figure 1.8b: B-flat major scale
- Figure 1.9: "The Little Things You Do Together," mm. 29-31, ascending E-major scale
- Figure 1.10: e-natural minor scale
- Figure 1.11: e-harmonic minor scale
- Figure 1.12a: e-melodic minor scale (ascending)
- Figure 1.12b: e-melodic minor scale (descending)
- Figure 1.13a: Major scale with scale degree names
- Figure 1.13b: Natural minor scale with scale degree names
- Figure 1.14: C-major intervallic scale
- Figure 1.15: c-minor (natural) intervallic scale
- Figure 1.16: Augmented fourth or diminished fifth
- Figure 1.17: Enharmonic equivalents
- Figure 1.18: Augmented fourth in a major scale
- Figure 1.19: Order of sharps
- Figure 1.20: Order of flats
- Figure 1.21: Major key signatures
- Figure 1.22: Circle of fifths
- Figure 1.23: C-major scale and its relative minor
- Figure 1.24: "King Herod's Song," mm. 1-4 and 9-16, relative key relationship
- Figure 1.25a: C-major scale
- Figure 1.25b: c-natural minor scale
- Figure 1.25c: c-natural minor scale with key signature
- Figure 1.25d: E-flat major scale with key signature
- Figure 1.26: "Far from the Home I Love," mm. 5–16, mutation
- Figure 1.27: "I Enjoy Being a Girl," mm. 53-63, mutation
- Figure 1.28a, Figure 1.28b, Figure 1.28c, Figure 1.28d: Four triads built on C

Figure 1.29: C-major triadic scale Figure 1.30: a-minor (natural) triadic scale Figure 1.31: a-harmonic minor Figure 1.32: "Chop Suey," mm. 1-4, parallel triads Figure 1.33: Root and first inversion triads Figure 1.34: Root position, first and second inversion triads Figure 1.35: "Love, Look Away," mm. 5-9, parallel triads Figure 1.36a, Figure 1.36b, Figure 1.36c, Figure 1.36d: Cadences Figure 1.37: Seventh chords Figure 1.38: "Side by Side," mm. 29–32, 37–40, 63–64, examples of seventh and ninth chord Figure 1.39: "Being Alive," mm. 20-21, 131-136 Figure 1.40: Tonic chord progressions Figure 1.41: Dominant chord progressions Figure 1.42: Subdominant chord progressions Figure 1.43: Supertonic chord progressions Figure 1.44: Submediant chord progressions Figure 1.45: Multichord harmonic progressions Figure 1.46: "I Don't Know How to Love Him," mm. 1-8, traditional chord progression Figure 1.47: Simple chord-tone melody with accompaniment Figure 1.48: "Can't Help Lovin' Dat Man," mm. 1-4, traditional harmony with chord-tone melody Figure 1.49: Simple melody with nonharmonic tones and accompaniment Figure 1.50a: Diatonic passing tone Figure 1.50b: Chromatic passing tone Figure 1.51a: "Christmas Lullaby," mm. 28-31, diatonic passing tone Figure 1.51b: "Matchmaker, Matchmaker," mm. 35-42, diatonic passing tones Figure 1.52: Anticipation Figure 1.53: "Christmas Lullaby," mm. 78-85, anticipations Figure 1.54: Retardation Figure 1.55: Échappée Figure 1.56: "You Are Love," mm. 57-59, échappée Figure 1.57: Cambiata Figure 1.58: "Sorry-Grateful," mm. 17-18, cambiata Figure 1.59: Neighbor tones Figure 1.60a: "I Enjoy Being a Girl," mm. 28–31, lower-neighbor tone Figure 1.60b: "I'm Not Afraid," mm. 13-14, upper-neighbor tone Figure 1.61: Appoggiaturas Figure 1.62: "Can't Help Lovin' Dat Man," mm. 19-22, appoggiatura Figure 1.63: Prepared appoggiatura Figure 1.64: "Matchmaker, Matchmaker," mm. 3–9, prepared appoggiatura Figure 1.65: Suspension Figure 1.66: "Love, Look Away," mm. 5–8, suspension Figure 1.67: Example of the V/V chord in C-major Figure 1.68: Example of V7 chord in the key of C-major Figure 1.69: "A New World," mm. 58-72, common-chord modulation Figure 1.70: "Losing My Mind," mm. 59-61, enharmonic modulation

Figure 1.71: "Being Alive," mm. 73–77, abrupt modulation Figure 1.72: "Ol' Man River," mm. 15–34, temporary modulation Figure 1.73: Note and rest symbols Figure 1.74: Staff with time signatures, bar lines, and rhythmic patterns Figure 1.75: Whole rest in various metrical settings Figure 1.76: Symbol for common time or $\begin{array}{c} 4\\4\end{array}$ symbol Figure 1.77: Symbol for cut time

Part 2

"Ol' Man River," pp. 1–3 "Housewife," pp. 1–8 "Love, Look Away," pp. 1–2 "Stars and Moon," pp. 1–15

Part 3

Major Scales Minor Scales Intervals Enharmonies Key Signature Triads Cadences Harmony Functional and Nonfunctional Harmony Rhythm

Introduction

At its most basic level, song literature represents a marriage—a lamination, if you will—of text at music. The combination of these two modes of expression creates a language that is unique at powerful.

Tools for understanding and then interpreting *any* language are diverse. Those for song literatu come from the worlds of theatre and music. A composer writes for the theatre the way a playwrig writes for the theatre, except the composer uses *musical* language rather than *literal* language. The goal is the same: to capture the essence of character and situation. Just as the playwright uses letter the composer uses tones. The tones form chords (words), musical phrases (sentences), and music sections (paragraphs). In the same way that a playwright builds dramatic interest through the use rising action and *dénouement*, a composer uses the tools of dissonance and consonance to transport the listener on a musical journey.

Early methods of musical theatre acting training espoused the notion that singing actors shou approach a song as if it were a monologue. Singers were encouraged to speak the text without music investigate the lyrics' naturalistic qualities. Then the student was directed to add the music graduall first as underscoring, and finally return to sung delivery. This technique, while valuable, perpetuate the dangerous assumption that the lyric of a song is the most important component of the song dramatic expression, and places little or no emphasis on the composer's art.

This book addresses the role and value of music as a contributor to the dramatic *gestalt*, particular in the musical theatre canon. Currently there is a dearth of literature that focuses on the tools the composer uses to complete the union of spoken word and music.

This book, designed to introduce the musical theatre practitioner to a new paradigm for music theatre study, has three parts. Part 1 features elements of music theory that are basic for practic application to musical theatre songs. Part 2 contains examples from the musical theatre repertoire th demonstrate the lamination of music and text analysis. A supplementary section, Part 3, provides the educator and the student with practical drills in a workbook format.

It is important to note this book is intended *not just* for actors, singers, and dancers. In fact, base upon the authors' personal experiences using this model for song analysis, this book will be of gre value to stage managers, designers, directors, choreographers, and musical directors. The author believe the result can be a shared and specific working vocabulary that enhances the efficiency of the process (design and production meetings, rehearsal, etc.) and enriches the product (performance).

Most professional musical theatre training programs require that students study music theory. The content of such training, however, varies widely in both depth and rigor. Now that the number of musical theatre training programs has increased, so too has an awareness of the specific education and skill needs of their students.

The time has come to ask a series of questions. How do musical theatre artists differ fro traditional musical and theatre artists? Do the specific, day-to-day tasks in which the musical theat artists engage require the full complement of music theory training? If not, what should be included Is there a more logical way to sequence the information to reveal its direct application to the art form

Some musical theatre students begin their university program of study with less music

preparation than drama or dance training. As such, they find themselves overwhelmed and demoralized as they try to keep pace with their more musically sophisticated peers. This body approaches some of these challenges from the point of view that, while musical theatre artists *musical* the full complement of traditional music theory instruction, a course of study that would app the information more directly to the art form will better serve the actor, singer, and dancer as well a directors, choreographers, stage managers, and designers.

What do musical theatre artists need, musically? Lawrence Thelan's book *The Show Make* reveals, through a series of interviews with some of the contemporary musical theatre's most prolif directors, that, for many, the ability to read music is not considered a key skill for success in the profession. Additionally, there are other musical theatre practitioners who would also assert the sam opinion. After all, that's what the musical director is for, right?

In the authors' experiences, a basic command of musical language and its primary components *is a* essential "survival skill." The ability to read and analyze melody, harmony, and rhythm allow musical theatre artists to explore the composer's contribution to character and plot development. also allows directors and musical directors to discuss, as partners, musical needs regarding introductions, interludes, and transitional music. It assists actors in preparing excerpts for auditions, enables choreographers to look at a score and recognize nuances or punctuations that they may want capture visually. One of the potential and perhaps unexpected values of this text lies in its application to the training of stage managers, who must converse with other musical theatre artists. Stag managers will also benefit from the ability to understand musical language in order to facilita calling musically specific cues. In short, the musical theatre artist is working in a theatrical form the is, after all, musical. Why would he or she *not* want to speak the language?

Music contains three basic components. *Melody* gives music its voice and shape, *harmony* gives music its aesthetic color or mood, and *rhythm* gives music its movement. These components combine to create the universality that allows music to speak to all people regardless of time or place. Further when music is combined with words, the dramatic potential intensifies.

The authors approach this text with the assumption that the reader possesses a basic understandin of reading a musical staff, a knowledge base equivalent to an elementary-level course in music theor Therefore, this book does not provide orientation to note names, clef, and other rudiments of printe music. In a classroom setting, this text can be useful in the study of musical theatre performance an musical theatre script and score analysis. This book will enhance the understanding of any teacher student, or enthusiast who has an interest in musical theatre literature.

While it would be helpful to be able to play the musical examples on piano, it is not essential. The authors encourage the reader to listen to recordings of the songs from which the examples are taken.

Additionally, the authors believe that the study of music theory need not be intimidating. Arme with a few basic principles of melody, harmony, and rhythm, the musical theatre artist will be successful in creating, "page-to-stage," the world that not only the playwright but also the compose and lyricist have imagined.

It is the authors' hope that this book will prove effective both in independent study and classroom settings.

Rudiments of Music

Melody

Melody refers to the succession of individual pitches used to express musical contour and shap These pitches have letter names, A to G, and appear on the keyboard below (figure 1.1).





The distance between any two adjacent keys is a semitone (ST), commonly referred to as a has step. For example, E to F and F to $F^{\#}$ is a semitone (figure 1.2). Two adjacent semitones create whole tone (WT), also known as a whole step. For example, G to A is a whole tone (figure 1.3).



Figure 1.2. Semitones



Figure 1.3. Whole tones

Alterations to named pitches are called *accidentals*. A sharp (#) raises a pitch by a semitone Conversely, a *flat* (b) lowers a pitch by a semitone. A *double sharp* (#) raises a pitch by two semitone while a *double flat* (b) lowers a pitch by two semitones. A *natural* (a) cancels a previous alteration. A accidental affects the note that follows as well as all notes of the same pitch within a measure.

A stepwise sequence of semitones or whole tones creates a pattern; whether in ascending descending order, these patterns create *scales*. A scale that is built entirely of semitones is a *chromat scale* (figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4. Staff with chromatic scale

Measure 55 of "Chop Suey," from *Flower Drum Song* features a chromatic scale in the top note the accompaniment (figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5. "Chop Suey," mm. 52-56, chromatic scale

A seven-note scale built on a combination of semitones and whole tones is a *diatonic* scale (figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6. Staff with diatonic scale

An example of a melody made up of diatonic scale tones appears in measures 1-6 of "You An Love" from *Show Boat*. (Notice that the melody is doubled and reinforced in the accompaniment; s figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7. "You are Love," mm. 1-6, diatonic scale

Mode refers to the resulting color or tonality elicited from scales or melodic sequences. The tw most common modes in Western music are the *major* and *minor* modes. They consist of eight note For purposes of this book, these two modes will be emphasized.

Typically, the major mode is perceived to be "positive," "bright," or "effusive," while the mine mode is perceived to be "negative," "dark," or "reflective." Reference to the major mode is notated be capital letters. Lowercase letters are used to reference minor modes. Therefore, an uppercase represents A-major, and the key of a-minor is represented by a.



Figure l.8a. C-major scale

An ascending major scale has the following formula (this pattern is reversed for the descendin scale): Starting Note/WT/WT/ST/WT/WT/ST (see figures 1.8a and 1.8b).



Figure 1.8b. B-flat major scale

Stephen Sondheim outlines an ascending E-major scale in measures 30 and 31 of "The Little Thin You Do Together," from *Company*. The melody begins on the second scale degree, the $F^{\#}$, and ascento the high E (see figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9. "The Little Things You Do Together," mm. 29–31, ascending E-major scale

There are three common forms of minor modes: *natural, harmonic*, and *melodic*. The natural min scale has the following formula: Starting Note/WT/ST/WT/WT/ST/WT/WT (see figure 1.10).



Figure 1.10. e-natural minor scale

The harmonic minor mode raises the seventh scale degree of the natural minor scale. It utilizes the following formula: Starting Note/WT/ST/WT/WT/ST/WT+ST/ST. Notice that the distance of the second-to-last interval in this formula is three semitones (a step and a half). Most Western melodie that are written in a minor mode are in the harmonic form (figure 1.11).





The melodic minor mode raises the sixth and seventh scale degrees *ascending* by one semitone at then follows the natural minor formula *descending*. The ascending melodic minor scale follows the formula: Starting Note/WT/ST/WT/WT/WT/WT/ST (see figures 1.12a and 1.12b). Therefore, the descending melodic minor scale is the same as the descending natural minor scale.



Figure 1.12a. e-melodic minor scale (ascending)





In any key, scale degree notes have specific names. The first scale degree is the *tonic*, the second the *supertonic*, the third is the *mediant*, the fourth is the *subdominant*, the fifth is the *dominant*, and the sixth is the *submediant*.

In a discussion of scales and modality, special notice should be taken of the mediant. This this scale degree is important because it establishes either major or minor mode.

The seventh degree of major and the various minor scales is "variable." In some cases, the distant below tonic is a semitone, while in others it is a whole tone. In the major mode, the seventh scale degree is the *leading tone* because it is a mere semitone from the tonic, which gives it a feeling leading to or resolving to the tonic. The same is true with the harmonic minor and the ascending melodic scales. In the natural and the *descending melodic* scales, the seventh scale degree is the *subtonic* because this *now-lowered* tone is a whole tone below the tonic. Finally, the eighth scale degree is the *octave* or *high tonic* (figures 1.13a and 1.13b).



Figure 1.13a. Major scale with scale degree names



Figure 1.13b. Natural minor scale with scale degree names

When any two pitches sound consecutively or simultaneously, the distance between each is a *interval*. Intervals are defined by two components—size and quality. They can be perceived aurally well as visually. In order to determine interval *size* visually, start with the bottom note and count lin and spaces to the upper note. Be sure to count both the starting and ending notes. For example, on the staff below, starting on C and ending on the same C is a unison. Starting on C and ending on D, the interval is a second. The distance from C to E is a third, and so forth. An interval of an eighth is a octave (figures 1.14 and 1.15).



Figure 1.15. c-minor (natural) intervallic scale

Notice on the major and minor scales above that the thirds, sixths, and sevenths would sound different, depending upon the mode. In addition, the specific distance (number of semitones or who tones) has changed. These variances represent the interval *quality*. We define these interval qualities as major, minor, *perfect, diminished*, and *augmented*. Perfect intervals are intervals that a the same in major and minor modes. These intervals are typically described as "open" and "hollow."

The interval size and qualities from the tonic are labeled on the C-major scale above (figure 1.14 Notice that the unison, fourth, fifth, and octave are perfect (P), and the second, third, sixth, an seventh intervals are major (M).

The interval size and qualities (again from the tonic) are labeled on the c-natural minor scale abov (figure 1.15). As is the case in a major mode, the unison, fourth, fifth, and octave remain perfect Likewise, the second remains major. However, the third, sixth, and seventh intervals are now minor (m). Considering the intervals of the third, sixth, and seventh in both scales, the major interval "bigger," while the minor interval is "smaller."

The word "augment" means to increase, and "diminish" means to decrease. When a perfect fourth augmented or a perfect fifth is diminished they create a *tritone*. A tritone is three whole tones (figu 1.16).



Figure 1.16. Augmented fourth or diminished fifth

An augmented fourth and a diminished fifth sound the same. *Enharmonic* equivalents are pitch that sound the same but are written differently. For example, a D-sharp and an E-flat are the sam pitch, but with different spellings. The same is true of F and E-sharp. Actually, each tone can be written in one of two or three ways (figure 1.17).



Figure 1.17. Enharmonic equivalents

In the context of a major or minor scale, the tritone does not appear as an interval above or below the tonic, but it can be embedded within the scale. For example, in a major scale, the distance betwee the subdominant and the leading tone is an augmented fourth (figure 1.18).





For each scale, key is the means of identifying the tonal center (root or tonic) and mode. Sharps and

flats indicate the *key signature* at the beginning of a composition. Key signature can change at an point as *modulations* (or shifts in tonal center) between keys occur. As already stated, key signature may contain accidentals.

The order of sharps in a key signature is always the same (figure 1.19).



Figure 1.19. Order of sharps

The order of flats in a key signature is always the same (figure 1.20).



Figure 1.20. Order of flats

The number of accidentals in a key signature identifies the key's tonic. For example, one sharp (F is the key signature for G-major. So, if one begins a scale on G and then follows the formula for *major* scale, one finds that the leading tone is F-sharp. The major key signatures follow (figure 1.21).



Figure 1.21. Major key signatures

The *circle of fifths* is another system of key identification. It considers the increasing number sharps or flats in the signatures. Starting with C-major (no sharps or flats) and moving clockwise lascending fifths, one reaches G-major (one sharp). Ascending a fifth again, one reaches D-major (two sharps), and so on. After twelve steps, one returns to C-major. Likewise, starting with C-major (resharps or flats) and moving counterclockwise by descending fifths, one reaches F-major (one flat Descending a fifth again, one reaches B-flat major (two flats), and so on. After twelve steps, or returns again to C-major (figure 1.22).



Figure 1.22. Circle of fifths

The astute student will memorize key signatures. As an aid in retention, the following tips maprove helpful.

To determine a major key in a key signature containing sharps, simply name the sharp farthest the right in the key signature and go up one letter name. Then add the word "major" and that is the key. For example, in the key of E-major, the sharp in the key signature that is the farthest right is I Therefore, if one goes up one letter name, one arrives at E, hence E-major.

To determine a major key in the key signature containing flats, simply name the flat second from the right in the key signature and add the word "flat" to its letter name. Then add the word "majo and that is the key. For example, the key signature of \mathbf{E} -major shows an \mathbf{E} as the second from the right.

The exception to the system above is that if there is only one flat in the key signature, the key is major. If there are no flats or sharps in the key signature, the key is C-major.

Key signatures apply to minor scales as well. Each major key has a *relative* natural minor which down, intervalically, a minor third. That is, C-major's relative minor key is A-minor. Therefore, the key of A-natural minor has the same key signature as C-major; it simply begins on A rather than on Using that key signature, one merely adds the appropriate accidentals to construct the harmonic and melodic variations of the minor mode (figure 1.23).

Figure 1.23. C-major scale and its relative minor

In "King Herod's Song" from *Jesus Christ Superstar*, Andrew Lloyd Webber begins the song in sharp minor. At measure 9, the relative key, A-major, is established and evident in the shift from darker, ominous quality to one that is brighter (figure 1.24).

Figure 1.24. "King Herod's Song," mm. 1–4 and 9–16, relative key relationship

Note that in measures 15 and 16, A-major is reinforced with the descending major scale in the melody.

One other key relationship is the *parallel*. Parallel key relationships have the same tonic b different key signatures and notes. For example, d-minor is the parallel minor of D-major.

Notice on the scales below, C-major has no sharps or flats in the key signature (figure 1.25a). A minor scale has three flats (figure 1.25b), reflected in the key signature (figure 1.25c). If those three flats are translated into the key signature for the appropriate major key, it would be E-flat major

(figure 1.25d). Note that E-flat major's relative minor, then, is c-minor (an interval of a third below).

Figure 1.25a. C-major scale

Figure 1.25b. c-natural minor scale

Figure 1.25c. c-natural minor scale with key signature

Figure 1.25d. E-flat major scale with key signature

Composers can use the device of *mutation*, or changing mode to a parallel major or minor, witho altering the key. The song "Far from the Home I Love" from *Fiddler on the Roof* provides a cle example. The song begins in the key of c-minor. At measure 12, through the use of accidentals and a ascending C-major scale in the accompaniment, the parallel major key is established to reinforce the happy recollection (figure 1.26).

Another example of mutation appears in "I Enjoy Being a Girl," from *Flower Drum Song*. In the instance, the key shift is from D-major to d-minor (figure 1.27).

The musical theatre examples quoted thus far are evidence of the potency of melody as a guide the listener and to the performer. When one considers harmony as an extension of the melod expression, an infinite number of musical possibilities unfold. Harmony can reinforce emotion an dramatic action, and sustain a mood.

Figure 1.26. "Far from the Home I Love," mm. 5–16, mutation

Figure 1.27. "I Enjoy Being a Girl," mm. 53-63, mutation

Harmony

Harmony refers to the simultaneous sounding of two or more pitches or tones. This coupling of ton begins to characterize sound just as a coupling of people begins to characterize a conversation relationship. Primarily, harmony references music vertically, while melody suggests a linear horizontal orientation.

Harmony is organized in many ways, but the underlying principle behind harmony is *tertian*chords built in thirds. A *triad* is a three-note chord that contains a root or starting note, the note a thi above the root, and a note a fifth above the root. Four examples of triads built on C appear belo (figures 1.28a, 1.28b, 1.28c, and 1.28d).

Figure 1.28a, Figure 1.28b, Figure 1.28c, Figure 1.28d. Four triads built on C

The third and the fifth notes of the triad indicate mode. When the distance between the root are fifth of a triad is perfect, the modality is either major or minor. In the example above, figures 1.2

sample content of Music Theory for Musical Theatre

- download online Mathematics: Its Content, Methods and Meaning
- download online Sizzling (The Buchanans, Book 3)
- Once Upon a Northern Night pdf
- <u>Carnelians (The Saga of the Skolian Empire, Book 14) pdf</u>
- Beer School: Bottling Success at the Brooklyn Brewery for free
- click L'Innocente (The Victim) online
- <u>http://toko-gumilar.com/books/Fruit-Infused-Water--98-Delicious-Recipes-for-Your-Fruit-Infuser-Water-Pitcher.pdf</u>
- http://tuscalaural.com/library/Sizzling--The-Buchanans--Book-3-.pdf
- http://drmurphreesnewsletters.com/library/Buy-Now--Ron-Lynch.pdf
- <u>http://reseauplatoparis.com/library/Carnelians--The-Saga-of-the-Skolian-Empire--Book-14-.pdf</u>
- http://sidenoter.com/?ebooks/Shadowrise--Shadowmarch--Book-3-.pdf
- http://kamallubana.com/?library/Tihkal--A-Continuation.pdf